ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THOMAS D. HALL
DEC 1 4 2801

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

THOMAS SOLOMOS AND LUCAS PITTERS, ON BEHALF OF THEMSELVES AND ALL OTHERS SIMILARLY SITUATED,

Petitioners,

CASE NO. SC01-510

vs.

SHERIFF KEN JENNE,

Respondent.

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONERS

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FLORIDA FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

STEVEN WISOTSKY, P.A. 3050 JEFFERSON STREET MIAMI, FL 33133 TEL: (305) 858-2436 Fla. Bar No. 130838

GARY KOLLIN, P.A. 8211 W. BROWARD BLVD. FT. LAUDERDALE, FL 33324 TEL: 954-723-9999 Fla. Bar No. 282431

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Nature of the Case and Jurisdictional Statement

This case is before the Court on discretionary review of an opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal expressly declaring Fla. Stat. § 951.033 constitutionally valid and upholding the Sheriff's administrative program for collecting fees from inmates under the authority of Fla. Stat. § 951.033. The court of appeal upheld the circuit court's grant of summary judgment for the Sheriff, rejecting Petitioners' class claims for declaratory and injunctive relief.

Jurisdiction for review is conferred upon this Court by Fla.R.App.P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(i)-(iii).

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition Below

Named plaintiffs (petitioners in this court) Thomas Solomos and Lucas Pitters filed a class action complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief challenging the Sheriff's assessment of fees. R1:1. The Sheriff answered with affirmative defenses. R1:13. Plaintiffs moved for and were granted class certification. R1:85. Defendant appealed class certification, and the court of appeal affirmed. Jenne v. Solomos, 707 So.2d 1203 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998).

In the circuit court, each side moved for summary judgment. R2:153, R2:195. The cross motions for summary judgment were briefed and heard on oral argument. The judge ruled from the bench, granting Defendant's motion for summary judgment and denying Plaintiffs' cross motion for partial summary judgment on

liability. R2:281.

The court then entered Final Judgment for the Sheriff. R2:283. Plaintiffs appealed to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. R2:285. After oral argument, the court of appeal affirmed, holding, inter alia, that Fla. Stat. § 951.033 was valid. Solomos v. Jenne, 776 So.2d 953 (4th DCA 2000). Petitioners timely filed a notice invoking this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. The parties filed briefs on jurisdiction. This Court accepted jurisdiction by order of October 25, 2001 (Table, No. SC01-510).

C. Statement of the Facts

Undisputed facts were presented to the trial court on motion and cross-motion for summary judgment based on the pleadings and pretrial discovery materials introduced into the record: the deposition and affidavit of Linda Kristofik, the Sheriff's expert witness in charge of administering the Sheriff's program herein challenged, the Sheriff of Broward County Department of Corrections Standard Operating Procedures, and the Inmate Handbook.

These facts may be summarized as follows. Plaintiffs are/were inmates of the Broward County Jail, as determined by the Court's amended order certifying the case as a class action. R1: 103. Pursuant to Broward County Jail Standard Operating Procedure (hereinafter "SOP") 1.2.12, R2:170, Plaintiffs were assessed subsistence fees at the rate of \$2.00 per inmate per diem. In addition, a \$10.00 flat fee per inmate was assessed

upon admission to the jail; this fee is described by the Inmate Handbook as a "processing fee" and by the SOP as a fee for uniforms.

In 1996, the Sheriff adopted SOP 1.2.12 in order to implement Fla. Stat. § 951.033. The statute provides as follows:

- (1) There is an urgent need to alleviate the increasing financial burdens on local subdivisions of the state caused by the expenses of incarcerating prisoners. In addition to the prisoner's cash account on deposit in local detention facilities, many prisoners have sources of income and assets outside of the facility, which may include bank accounts, inheritance, real estate, social security payments, and other types of financial resources.
- (2) The local detention facility shall determine the financial status of prisoners for the purpose of paying from their income and assets all or a fair portion of their daily subsistence costs. In determining the financial status of prisoners, any income exempt by state or federal law shall be excluded. Consideration shall be given to the prisoner's ability to pay, the liability or potential liability of the prisoner to the victim or guardian or the estate of the victim, and his or her dependents.
- (3) The chief correctional officer of a local subdivision may direct a prisoner to pay for all or a fair portion of daily subsistence costs. A prisoner is entitled to reasonable advance notice of the assessment and shall be afforded an opportunity to present reasons for opposition to the assessment.

[emphasis added].

The collection of fees by the Sheriff from jail inmates commenced on or about August, 1996, as established by the "Daily Subsistence Process Fees Printout" produced by Sheriff on pretrial discovery. R2:213. This document shows the total fees collected from inception through November 30, 1999, as follows:

Uniform fees collected = \$ 497,290.00

Subsistence fees collected = \$1,228,741.00

TOTAL FEES COLLECTED = \$ 1,726,031.00

With respect to determining "the financial ability of each inmate to pay," the Sheriff adopted a bright-line test: an inmate has "the ability to pay" if he or she has more than a zero balance in the inmate's account:

To determine an inmate's financial status, the Sheriff reviews whether there is a balance in the inmate's escrow account. If an inmate has a zero balance in his or her escrow account, the Sheriff deems those inmates indigent and does not assess or charge costs against them. If the inmate has a positive balance in the escrow account, then the Sheriff deems them financially able to pay for subsistence costs.

R2:166 [Affidavit of Linda Kristofik]. Fees are assessed and charged simultaneously if there is a positive balance in an inmate's account and the monies are not subject to the superseding obligations recognized by the Sheriff. R2:170.

With respect to the statute's command to exclude "exempt" income, the Sheriff's procedure is to exempt social security and other government checks by refusing to deposit them. R2:258. The Sheriff also exempts funds needed to comply with courtordered restitution.

The Sheriff has no procedure to consider the source of the inmate's funds on deposit and had never examined the source since

[&]quot;Inmate Escrow Account" is defined by SOP 1.2.12 as "Individual banking account held in trust for inmates incarcerated in DCR [Department of Corrections]." R2:170. "Indigent Inmate" is defined by the same SOP as "An inmate with a zero balance in their [sic] escrow account."

the inception of his subsistence fee program. R2:233. No other procedure exists to exclude any income exempted by federal or state law from the Sheriff's assessments. R2:241. The official charged with administering the program did not know what was exempt by state or federal law. R2:232.

§ 951.033(3) requires that inmates receive "advance notice of the assessment and an opportunity to present reasons for opposition to the assessment." The Sheriff provides notice by posting throughout the jail. R2:168. The Inmate Handbook issued to each inmate upon admission to the facility states that the daily subsistence fee "will be automatically deducted each day from your commissary account." R2:264.

The first opportunity for inmates to oppose an assessment is after the assessment has already been made. The Inmate Handbook provides for filing a grievance "concerning a facility operations, procedure, or staff." R2:266. This section of the Handbook makes no mention of assessments for subsistence. The Inmate Handbook section explaining assessments for subsistence makes no mention of the grievance procedure. R2:264.

After Mr. Solomos was booked into the jail, a friend supplied his account with \$75.00 so that he could buy personal hygiene items. R1:9-10. Because he had funds in his account, the Sheriff determined that he was able to pay the assessment and deducted subsistence fees and the uniform or processing fee. R1:10. As of the date of the Sheriff's Answer, \$22.00 had been deducted. R1:16. After learning of this deduction, Petitioner

Solomos objected in writing to the Sheriff's assessment. R1:10. The same day, he received notice that his objection was denied R1:10.

Mr. Solomos was indigent and was represented by counsel probono. R1:9. Under the Sheriff's program, a judicial declaration of indigency does not bar the Sheriff from imposing his subsistence assessments. R1:90, 135.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court of appeal erroneously interpreted the statutory law and constitutional principles that govern this case. Given the undisputed material facts, Plaintiffs were entitled to judgment as a matter of law on both their statutory and constitutional claims.

The Statutory Claim

The Sheriff's policy, SOP 1.2.12, as written and as enforced, violates Fla. Stat. § 951.033. The Sheriff charges inmates who are in fact and law indigent based solely on the possession of \$2.00 or more in an inmate's escrow account. By contrast, the statute recites that "many prisoners have sources of income and assets outside of the facility" This is a clear indication of the legislative intention that these sources be considered in determining an inmate's actual "financial status." The Sheriff's test of ability to pay is not a determination of "financial status" within the meaning of the statute but a mechanistic computation that undermines the legislative purpose. It is not a bona fide compliance with the

statutory mandate that "consideration shall be given to an inmate's ability to pay."

The mechanical approach of SOP 1.2.12 is also contrary to the requirement of Section 951.033(2) to consider an inmate's "potential liability" to the victim or others. This aspect of the statute is completely ignored. Likewise, the Sheriff's policy violates § 951.033(2) by failing to consider (except for court-ordered restitution and government checks) whether an inmate's funds may be subject to exemptions under state or federal law. The exemption would apply to any income earned by a head of a household under Florida law, § 222.11. Likewise, monies obtained under a disability income benefits policy of insurance are exempt. § 222.18.

Finally, the Sheriff charges both a \$2.00 per day subsistence fee and, as stated in the Inmate Handbook, a separate one-time fee of \$10.00 for "processing." Processing is not by any definition an item of subsistence. Consequently, the \$10.00 charge by the Sheriff for "processing, as stated in the Inmate Handbook is not authorized by the statute but is *ultra vires*. To the extent that SOP 1.2.12, which labels the \$10.00 fee a uniform fee, may be deemed to override the Inmate Handbook, there is a lack of adequate notice to the class of inmates of that charge.

The Constitutional Claims

A. SOP 1.2.12 violates procedural due process.

The Sheriff's standard operating procedure, SOP 1.2.12, as written and as enforced, denies plaintiffs procedural due process

of law under the Fourteenth Amendment. There is no reasonable opportunity to oppose an assessment or to demonstrate indigency in advance of the deprivation of an inmate's property. The Sheriff's post-deprivation procedure is untimely (and also inadequate). Although there are circumstances in which a post-deprivation hearing may pass constitutional muster, they involve emergencies or other extraordinary circumstances not present here. Thus, SOP 1.2.12 violates the rule of Fuentes v. Shevin, 407 U.S. 67 (1972).

Even if a post-deprivation hearing is deemed adequate process in the circumstances of this case, the Sheriff's procedure fails to meet constitutional standards for the simple reason that it does not provide fair notice of the opportunity to be heard. On the contrary, the process is illusory. First, the notice printed in the handbook states that such fees "will" be charged "automatically." This is not language reasonably calculated to convey to inmates that grounds for opposing it and a procedure for opposing it may exist.

Second, the grievance procedure in the Inmate Handbook does not mention subsistence fees at all; and the statement in the Inmate handbook concerning fees does not mention the grievance procedure. It takes a lawyer's skill to synthesize the two passages, separate by two plus pages of text, into the conclusion that the assessment of fees may be the subject of a grievance. Again, this is not language reasonably calculated to bring to the attention of the inmates that they have the right to be heard in

opposition to the assessment of fees. On the contrary, the Sheriff's procedures are effectively hidden and fail to give inmates meaningful notice of their right to be heard, as required by due process of law.

Third, even if the inmate is skillful enough to divine that the grievance procedure may be harnessed to challenge an assessment of fees, there are no grounds that the inmate could invoke in his behalf except for court orders. R2:237-38. No grounds are recognized by SOP 1.2.12. None are stated in the Inmate Handbook. The statute, which might provide a clue to the inmate, is not printed in the Handbook. And even if it were, it could make no difference.

The Administrator reviewing the grievance would have to reject all claims except for those based on a pre-existing court order. Following SOP 1.2.12, he or she would be obligated to deny the grievance so long as the inmate had a positive balance in his account. This is not "a meaningful, full and fair" opportunity to be heard but rather one that is "merely colorable" or illusory. Rucker v. City of Ocala, 684 So.2d 836, 841 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). The Rucker standard was applied to invalidate an administrative hearing process as not offering a "full and fair opportunity to challenge" a water bill in Miami-Dade County v. Reyes, 772 So.2d 24, 29 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000).

Finally, even assuming arguendo that the post-deprivation grievance procedure were reasonably comprehensible to inmates and offered a real opportunity to prevail on some unspecified showing

by the inmate, the procedure would still be invalid under the Fourteenth Amendment. It requires inmates to prove some (unknown) ground of exemption to the assessments rather than requiring the Sheriff to fulfill his duty to make the initial determination that the inmate is subject to an assessment. Instead of putting the burden on inmates to show their inability to pay, the Sheriff's staff must make the affirmative finding that the inmate has the requisite "financial status" to be able to pay. This is what \$ 951.033(2) requires. It is also a requirement of procedural due process. See Armstrong v. Manzo, 380 U.S. 545 (1965).

B. § 951.033 violates the Florida Constitution.

Finally, § 951.033 violates Florida constitutional law principles of separation of powers and nondelegation. It is "so lacking in guidelines" as to violate the Florida Constitution, Art. I, sec. 18 and Art. II, sec. 3. Askew v. Cross Keys Waterways, 372 So. 2d 913, 924 (Fla. 1978). This results from the vagueness of its operative terms such as "financial status," "exempt" income, "potential liability," and "ability to pay." Because of the elasticity of its key terms, it necessarily confers power upon the Sheriff, an executive branch official, to say what the law is. "The legislature may not delegate the power to enact a law, to declare what a law shall be, or to exercise an unrestricted discretion in applying a law." Lewis v. State Board of Health, 143 So.2d 867, 874 (Fla. 1st DCA 1962). Such a statute is unconstitutionally vague and will be stricken. See

D'Alemberte v. Anderson, 349 So.2d 164 (Fla. 1977).

ARGUMENT²

I. THE SHERIFF'S PROGRAM FOR COLLECTING FEES FROM INMATES UNDER SOP 1.2.12 VIOLATES FLA. STAT. § 951.033.

The Sheriff's policy, SOP 1.2.12, as written and as enforced, violates § 951.033, Florida Statutes, because it defines inmates' "ability to pay" based solely on the possession of a "positive balance" in their individual escrow accounts.

This is contrary to the mandate of Section 951.033(2) that the Sheriff "shall determine the financial status of prisoners for the purpose of paying from their income and assets" toward their subsistence costs. The Sheriff's policy makes no bona fide effort to determine the inmates' actual ability to pay as required by the statute. Most glaringly, it ignores the legislative intention to go after "sources of income and assets outside of the facility" as directed by \$951.033(1).

The statute attempts to strike a balance between the State's interest in funding the corrections system and the ability of inmates to shoulder the costs of their upkeep. It directs the Sheriff to determine the "financial status" of inmates in order that they pay "all or a fair portion" of their upkeep. Is it conceivable that any inmate with \$2.00 to his name is ipso facto able to pay? Merely to pose the question is to answer it.

A positive balance in the inmate's account is simply not a sufficient factual basis on which to impose an assessment.

²All questions presented by this case are issues of law and are subject to *de novo* review.

Indeed, the Legislature mandated further inquiry: the Sheriff must exclude "income exempt by state or federal law"; but the Sheriff complies only to the extent of exempting social security checks, which, ironically, are specifically cited by the statute as a source of outside income. There is no inquiry as to whether an inmate's funds may be exempt because he is, for example, head of a household. The mechanical approach of SOP 1.2.12 is also contrary to the requirement of Section 951.033(2) to consider an inmate's ability to pay taking due account of "potential liability" to the victim or others. This aspect of the statute is completely ignored.

The requirements of the statute cannot possibly be obeyed simply by noting that the inmate has a positive balance in his account. Yet, except for court-ordered restitution and government checks, the Sheriff has no procedure to determine if any exemptions provided in Section 951.033(2) apply.⁴ Deposition of Linda Kristofik, R:166.

Additionally, Section 951.033 permits the Sheriff to charge prisoners only for "their daily subsistence fees." But the

³The exemption would apply, for example, to any income earned by a head of a household under Florida law, § 222.11. Likewise, monies obtained under a disability income benefits policy of insurance are exempt. § 222.18.

⁴ Consequently, an inmate is required to pay the Sheriff before reserving funds to pay an alleged victim in a criminal case. In many situations, defendants who would otherwise be able to receive early terminations of their probations because they have completed restitution are prevented from doing so because the Sheriff had earlier failed to take into consideration that prisoner's obligations and seized the monies in the escrow account which could otherwise have gone for restitution.

Sheriff also charges an additional one-time fee of \$10.00 for "processing." R2: 262. Processing is not by any definition an item of subsistence. Consequently, the \$10.00 charge by the Sheriff for "processing" as stated in the Inmate handbook is not authorized by the statute but is *ultra vires*. To the extent that SOP 1.2.12, which labels the \$10.00 fee a uniform fee, may be deemed to override the Inmate Handbook, there is a lack of adequate notice of that charge to the class of inmates.

II. THE SHERIFF'S PROGRAM FOR THE COLLECTION OF FEES FROM INMATES UNDER SOP 1.2.12 VIOLATES PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS OF LAW UNDER THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT.

A. Due Process Requires a Pre-Taking Opportunity for Hearing

The Sheriff's procedure is to charge first and field questions later. But no questions arise unless the inmate is legally astute enough to parse the Inmate Handbook to infer that a post-deprivation challenge to fees may be made via the grievance procedure. Under SOP 1.2.12 the inmate suffers an immediate loss when the Sheriff charges him for "processing" and subsistence costs. Assuming arguendo that a valid post-deprivation remedy exists, inmates first suffer the loss of their funds and then must wait through the Sheriff's grievance process before the inmate could possibly obtain the return of the funds. To the indigent inmate with a few dollars on account, this is unfair and harsh, potentially denying him access to funds that may be essential to his well being.

The process that is due in this non-emergency circumstance is "at a minimum notice and opportunity to be heard before" funds

are taken from the inmate. *County of Pasco v. Riehl*, 635 So.2d 17, 18-19 (Fla. 1994). The Sheriff does not have any greater power than a court to take property without timely notice and hearing.

In Fuentes v. Shevin, 407 U.S. 67 (1972), the Supreme Court overturned Florida and Pennsylvania laws that authorized the summary seizure of goods and chattels in a person's possession under a writ of replevin. The Court held that the laws were constitutionally defective in violation of procedural due process in failing to provide for hearings at "a meaningful time." The Florida replevin process guaranteed an opportunity for a hearing after the seizure of the goods, and the Pennsylvania process allowed a post-seizure hearing if the aggrieved party shouldered the burden of initiating one. But neither statute provided for notice or opportunity to be heard before the seizure. Both statutes were stricken.

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