# ORIGINAL

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED THOMAS D. HALL

JAN 14 2002

CLERK, SURREME COURT

THOMAS SOLOMOS AND LUCAS
PITTERS, ON BEHALF OF THEMSELVES
AND ALL OTHERS SIMILARLY
SITUATED,

Petitioners,

7.7	8	_
•	_	•

CASE NO. SC01-510 Lower Tribunal No. 4D00-600

SHERIFF KEN JENNE,

Respondent.

# ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT KEN JENNE, SHERIFF OF BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT
OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT
STATE OF FLORIDA

BRUCE W. JOLLY, ESQUIRE PURDY, JOLLY & GIUFFREDA, P.A. Attorneys for Respondent 1322 S.E. Third Avenue Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33316 Telephone (954) 462-3200 Telecopier (954) 462-3861 Fla. Bar No. 203637

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

Monies needed by the inmate for expenses other than those which he incurs while incarcerated are easily paid off by submitting a voucher, informing jail authorities that he or she is setting aside those proceeds for pick-up by a named person, such as a spouse. (R: 225-261 [Kristofik deposition, P. 15-16]) Additionally, if the local jail operators are advised that there are court ordered dispositions of monies in the inmate account, the subsistence fee is not collected even if there is a positive balance. (R: 225-261 [Kristofik deposition, P. 13]) Other than for those purposes the account monies are utilized by the inmates to satisfy their personal needs. To deduct subsistence costs from inmate accounts does not require further segregation of funds for payment of as yet unliquidated and contingent liabilities to victims.

Petitioners suggest that the Sheriff's program violates
Florida Statute \$951.033, because the program does not go far
enough in not pursuing "sources of income and assets outside of
the facilities" in determining "the financial status of
prisoners". Again, Petitioners provide no precedent supporting
that contention, and the contention is without merit. The
Legislature, notwithstanding its clear intent that the burden on
taxpayers for the cost of incarceration is to be alleviated, does
not compel that any specific approach be utilized. The approach
which a local jail operator employs, determined by the specific

needs and demands of its community as affected by inmate population, will vary from location to location. The Legislature did not need to specify the details as to how the collection cost program is to be implemented, leaving that decision, appropriately, to the local official. If the local jail operator determines that a search of an inmate's assets in addition to an inmate account is not to be conducted, for whatever reason, that does not subject the program to a determination that it violates the statute. The local official retains the discretion to charge the inmate an amount not exceeding the "daily subsistence cost" and, except as limited by the statute, can collect those costs as he deems appropriate.

#### II.

# A. PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS DOES NOT REQUIRE A HEARING BEFORE DEDUCTION OF SUBSISTENCE COSTS FROM INMATE ACCOUNTS.

Petitioners primarily rely on <u>Fuentes v. Shevin</u>, 407 U.S. 67 (1972) in support of their assertion that all inmates are entitled to pre-deprivation hearing before subsistence costs are deducted from their inmate account. <u>Fuentes</u>, <u>supra</u>, does not require hearing before subsistence costs may be charged and deducted from the inmate account.

Due process is a flexible concept and not all situations calling for procedural safeguards call for the same sort of procedure. Morrisey v. Brewer, 408 U.S. 471, 481 (1972);

Respondent concedes that an inmate's interest in funds in his inmate account are protected. Quick v. Jones, 754 F.2d 1521 (9th Cir. 1984); Orloff v. Cleland, 708 F.2d 372 (9th Cir. 1983); Campbell v. Miller, 787 F.2d 217 (7th Cir. 1986). Understanding the property interest of the claimant, and balancing that property interest with the government's interest in having the inmate satisfy his burden to pay the subsistence costs which the government has incurred helps to determine what procedural safeguards are due. Notwithstanding the protected interest, a pre-deduction hearing is not required as the Sheriff's program has been implemented.

Petitioners cite no decisional authorities supporting their claim that a pre-deduction hearing or proceeding is necessary before monies are deducted from an inmate account to defray subsistence costs.

As the record indicates, inmates are notified upon incarceration that a deduction will be made, and how that deduction is to be calculated, by the posting in each housing unit of the applicable policy, and in the Inmate Handbook, a copy of which is provided upon admission to the facility. The policy, as posted, advises as to the procedure for objecting to the deduction. Although Petitioners complain that the policy is not as clear as they believe it should be, they fail to provide any supporting precedent that the notice has to be any more complete, precise or clear. The information provided is sufficient from

which an inmate can determine that he has an obligation to pay for his subsistence costs, and how that obligation will be satisfied. In the context of a detention facility deducting subsistence costs, applying the principle that due process is to be flexible, other courts, in similar situations, have determined that the process which is due is minimal, and that the notice which the Sheriff is providing here would be adequate. Michigan v. Turner, 312 NW.2d 418 (Mich.Ct.of Appeals 1981); Gardner v. Wilson, 959 F.Supp.1224 (C.D. Cal. 1997).

Although the Petitioners do not specify exactly what process they believe is due, their vague suggestion that some kind of additional process is required appears to be asking this Court to restructure routine matters of jail operations into some type of more formalized proceeding, presumably warranting submission of evidence, examination of witnesses, etc. That conclusion is not compelled by the Constitution, and otherwise interferes with jail operations, the effect of which, at a minimum, would be to thwart the collection of the subsistence costs which inmates are obligated to pay. It is not practical or necessary to complicate the procedure any more than currently exists. Compelling a more formalized inquiry into an inmate's ability to pay incarceration costs at the inception of incarceration or as incarceration continues other than the procedure which this Sheriff has implemented, is not practical, and is not constitutionally compelled.

Petitioners continued reliance upon <u>Fuentes</u>, <u>supra</u> is inapposite. Specifically, in <u>Fuentes</u>, the Supreme Court stated:

Only in a few limited situations his this Court allowed outright seizure without opportunity for a prior hearing. First, in each case, the seizure has been directly necessary to secure an important governmental or general public interest. Second, there has been a special need for very prompt action. Third, the state has kept strict control over the monopoly of legitimate force: the person initiating the seizure has been a government official responsible for determining, under the standards of a narrowly draw statute, that it was necessary and justified in the particular instance. At 91

It is the cited exception which supports the Sheriff's contention that due process has been satisfied. The Legislature has determined that there is an important governmental interest in obligating inmates to reimburse local government for the incarceration costs which are incurred. There is a need for prompt action. If the deduction is not made at the time that the funds are available, the collection of the subsistence costs is, practically, nullified. It is government, in this case the Broward County Sheriff, that is responsible for determining when, and under what circumstances, the deduction is to be made, as provided for in the program which has been promulgated under his authority. If an objection or grievance is to be submitted, there is a procedure for that grievance to be reviewed and appealed. Therefore, the general rule of Fuentes does not apply.

The Supreme Court, in recognizing an exception, indicated that the notice requirements for due process can be limited under appropriate circumstances. The Sheriff's procedure falls within that exception.

B. THE METHOD BY WHICH INMATES MAY OBJECT, AFTER THE FACT, TO THE COLLECTION OF SUBSISTENCE COSTS UNDER THE SHERIFF'S PROGRAM SATISFIES PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS.

In this component of their claim, Petitioners contend first that the Sheriff's procedure by which inmates can "grieve" the collection of subsistence costs from their inmate accounts is, illusory, and, second, does not satisfy the requirements of procedural due process under the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution.

Addressing first their claim that the procedure is illusory, reference to the record on appeal demonstrates that there is no factual basis for that assertion. There is no evidence of record that either Plaintiffs attempted or were prevented from seeking or obtaining review by the jail asset administrator of the propriety of any deduction from their accounts in subsistence fees.

The program, as defined, and as specifically implemented, provides a procedure by which an inmate, who believes that collection costs have been improperly deducted from his inmate account, to submit a grievance to the inmate asset administrator.

That administrator reviews the grievance and if the grievance is not sustained, the inmate can then proceed up the chain of command to the Director of the Department of Detention. (R: 225-261 [Kristofik deposition, P. 18]) On the grievance form there is a place for the inmate's grievance, a place for the response, and a place for the appeal. (R: 225-261 [Kristofik deposition, P. 20]) Objections have been sustained and refunds of subsistence costs have occurred. (R: 167) The suggestion by Petitioners that the procedure by which inmates may object to a deduction having been made is not adequate and meaningful is not supported by the record.

\* , •

#### III.

FLORIDA STATUTE §951.033 IS NOT IMPERMISSIBLY VAGUE AND DOES NOT CONSTITUTE AN IMPROPER DELEGATION OF LEGISLATIVE POWER TO THE EXECUTIVE BRANCH IN VIOLATION OF ARTICLE II, SECTION 3, OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

Petitioners argue that Florida Statute §951.033, the statutory authority under which the Sheriff's policy for collection of subsistence costs was created, violates Article II, Section 3, of the Florida Constitution. Specifically, the Petitioners suggest that the statute is impermissibly vague in failing to establish standards upon which the local jail operator can rely in implementation of the statute. In making that argument, Petitioners rely upon the general principle which has

been long established from early precedent. As easy as the principle may be to enunciate, it is not so easy to apply, and the cited precedent provides little help in determining whether Florida Statute \$951.033 violates separation of powers.

Answering the question which Petitioners raise requires analysis of the relevant statutory provision as well as the problem which it is attempting to address. The purpose behind the statute as recited is to "alleviate the increasing financial burdens of local subdivisions of the state caused by the expenses of incarcerated prisoners". The Legislature has determined that it is the obligation of inmates who are incarcerated to "pay for all or a fair portion of daily subsistence costs", and, in recognizing that obligation, provides a listing of potential sources which it acknowledges is not all inclusive. The statute is clear in its goal and legislative intent; to reduce the taxpayer burden incurred in operating local jails.

The Legislature has directed that the local jail operator (chief correctional officer) has a responsibility to collect as much of the actual cost as is incurred ("all or a fair portion") of daily subsistence costs. The local jail operator is obligated to determine whether and the extent to which an inmate can pay for those costs, providing further that that determination is to make provisions for excluding exempt income, under either state or federal law, and to give consideration to whether the inmate

has any financial obligation to the victim, or victim's estate or dependents.

Notwithstanding the guidelines which are provided,

Petitioners suggest that the Legislature should have been more

clear as to when and under what circumstances subsistence costs

are to be paid or collected.

It is axiomatic that where it is claimed that a statute is subject to varying interpretations, it is the obligation of a reviewing court to adopt the interpretation upholding the statute as constitutional. Miami Dolphins Ltd. v. Metropolitan Dade County, 394 So.2d 981, 988 (Fla. 1981).

As is apparent here, the statute does not provide a specific limit as to the amount of cost to be charged or specifically limiting factors as to how it is to be determined that an inmate can or cannot pay for his subsistence while incarcerated, that does not compel that the statute is unconstitutional. No more precision is necessary to make the statute constitutional and functional. The Legislature has prioritized the inmates financial obligations by directing the jail operator not to seize income or assets that are exempt by federal or state law, or that may be used to satisfy any financial obligations to the inmate's victims or dependents. Other than that, any other income or assets may be recovered to satisfy subsistence costs. That is the legislative policy. The execution of that policy is left to those responsible for the jail operations. The statute

specifically provides that the Sheriff may recover from an inmate <u>all</u> costs associated with the inmate's incarceration, not just a "fair portion".

That the Sheriff has discretion whether to enforce the statute by collecting all costs incurred for an inmate's subsistence, as opposed to something less than that, or, only \$2.00 per day, does not represent an improper delegation of legislative authority to the executive branch. Leaving the final determination as to the amount to be charged to the jail operator should not be construed as an unlawful delegation of the Legislature's policymaking function. The fundamental policy decision that subsistence costs are to be collected remains with the Legislature. That the statute does not provide greater specificity allows the local jail operator enough leeway to establish a program that is unique to his or her jail operation.

Petitioners continue to suggest that the Legislature could (and, apparently should) have relied upon the same income and assets criteria as set forth in Florida Statutes \$27.52 (determining the indigency of a criminal defendant) as being applicable in determining whether an inmate should be obligated to pay subsistence costs. The Respondent does not disagree that the Legislature could have done that, but it was not obligated to do that. However, by way of explanation as to difference, assuming such an explanation is necessary, it should be remembered that Florida Statute \$27.52 delineates criteria for

the court to use in determining whether a criminal defendant is "indigent" and therefore entitled to court appointed counsel in comparison to Florida Statute \$951.033, which is designed to determine whether an inmate will be responsible for paying his own subsistence that, in the first instance, is being provided by the government regardless of his ability to pay at the time. By leaving the final determination of "ability to pay" to the local jail operators, the Legislature chose to allow those local jail operators to implement the policy which it established, recognizing that the local jail operators are best able to determine what costs are incurred and how, if at all, its jail population can satisfy its statutory duty for reimbursement of those costs. That statutory scheme does not violate the separation of powers provision contained in Article II, Section 3, of the Florida Constitution. Department of Insurance v. Southeast Volusia Hospital District, 438 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1983); Tory v. State, 686 So.2d 689 (4th DCA 1996).

The Legislature by its statutory enactment has recognized that inmates have a duty to pay for their incarceration costs. Petitioners complaint that the statute is unconstitutional because it did not provide enough limitations on how the local jail operator is to "determine the financial status of prisoners for the purpose of paying from their income and assets all or a fair portion of their daily subsistence costs" is not valid. That direction accomplishes nothing other than to reference what

any debtor, governmental or private, considers in determining whether any debt is collectible. That the Legislature chose to use general terms does not expand the local jail operators authority beyond the expressed intent and policy of the Legislature as provided in the statute which it enacted.

#### CONCLUSION

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